








CITY OF ELKO
PLANNING COMMISSION

REGULAR MEETING AGENDA
5:30 P.M., P.D.S.T., TUESDAY, MAY 5, 2020

ELKO CITY HALL, COUNCIL CHAMBERS,
1751 COLLEGE AVENUE, ELKO, NEVADA

GoToMeeting.com
https://global.gotomeeting.com/join/906677325

CALL TO ORDER

Jeff Dalling, Chairman of the City of Elko Planning Commission, called the meeting to order at
5:30 p.m.

ROLL CALL

Present: Jeff Dalling
Tera Hooiman
Gratton Miller
Giovanni Puccinelli
John Anderson
Stefan Beck

Absent: Evi Buell

City Staff Present: Scott Wilkinson, Assistant City Manager
Cathy Laughlin, City Planner
Michele Rambo, Development Manager
Matthew Griego, Fire Chief
Bob Thibault, Civil Engineer
Ty Trouten, Police Chief
Shelby Archuleta, Planning Technician

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

COMMENTS BY THE GENERAL PUBLIC

There were no public comments made at this time.

I. NEW BUSINESS

A. PUBLIC HEARING

1. Review, consideration, and possible action on Conditional Use Permit No. 1-20,
filed by Bill Dupee & Amber Dupee-Johnson, which would allow for a bar to be
located within the Central Business District, specifically 401 Railroad Street, and
matters related thereto. FOR POSSIBLE ACTION



As required by Elko City Code 3-2-10(5)(C) any new business such as a bar within
the Central Business District requires a Conditional Use Permit.

Amber Dupee explained that they were wanting to open up a Brew Pub. There would be no hard
alcohol, only craft beer that would be made on site, with the addition of some other local beers.
They are planning to start off with small appetizers and progressing to other appetizers. They
don’t plan on staying open on weekends later than 10 p.m. They are not looking to create a bar
scene, there will be no smoking and minimal music.

Cathy Laughlin, City Planner, went through the City of Elko Staff Report dated April 17, 2020.
Staff recommended conditional approval with the conditions and findings in the Staff Report.

Ty Trouten, Police Chief, went over the Police Department Conditions that were listed in the
Staff Report.

Chairman Jeff Dalling asked Chief Trouten if he had discussed the Police Department conditions
with the applicants.

Chief Trouten explained that he had not spoken with the applicants, but he had been speaking
with Ms. Laughlin.

Michele Rambo, Development Manager, had no comments or concerns.

Bob Thibault, Civil Engineer, had no additional comments.

Matt Griego, Fire Chief, had no comments or concerns.

Scott Wilkinson, Assistant City Manager, had no comments or concerns.

Commissioner Gratton Miller asked if the applicants would be having vats in the building, or if
they would be doing the brewing off-site.

Bill Dupee explained that they would be brewing in the building.

Ms. Dupee wanted to touch on the Police Department condition on the hours of operation. She
explained that they would be closing at 10 p.m. They didn’t plan on staying open any later than
that, except to let people finish their drinks. On weekdays they were looking at closing at 8 p.m.

*** Motion: Conditionally approve Conditional Use Permit No. 1-20 subject to the
conditions in the City of Elko Staff Report dated April 17, 2020, listed as follows:

1. The permit is granted to the applicant Bill Dupee and Amber Dupee-Johnson for a
brewery and/or bar establishment subject to compliance with all conditions imposed
by a conditional use permit.

2. The permit shall be personal to the permittee and applicable only to the specific use
(bar establishment) and to the specific property (401 Railroad Street) for which it is
issued. However, the Planning Commission may approve the transfer of the
conditional use permit to another owner. Upon issuance of an occupancy permit for



the conditional use, signifying that all zoning and site development requirements
imposed in connection with the permit have been satisfied, the conditional use permit
shall thereafter be transferable and shall run with the land, whereupon the
maintenance or special conditions imposed by the permit, as well as compliance with
other provisions of the zoning district, shall be the responsibility of the property
owner.

3. CUP 1-20 to be recorded with the Elko County Recorder within 90 days after the
business license is issued for the bar.

4. Signage will require review and comment by the Redevelopment Agency prior to
approval by the City.

5. Applicant shall install and maintain exterior security lighting that illuminates both
the Railroad and 4th Street frontages as well as the alleyway adjacent to the
establishment.  The security lighting shall be sufficient to make easily discernible the
appearance and conduct of all persons and patrons in the vicinity of the front and
side entrances, and shall be positioned so as not to cause excessive glare for persons
located outside of the vicinity of the front and side entrances, such as pedestrians,
motorists, and owners and occupants of neighboring properties.

6. Applicant shall remove all bottles, cans, trash, broken glass, debris, and bodily fluids
from abutting properties upon closing on each day applicant's business is open.

7. Applicant shall maintain an active account with Elko Sanitation at all times for the
collection of garbage, refuse and waste within the common collection area of the 400
block.

Police Department:
1. Communicate effectively and proactively with Elko Police Department regarding

management and safety of the business, such as; provide notice as to management or
supervision changes, problems with security, changes with lighting, camera systems,
security, weapons polices, etc.

2. Zero tolerance of employee consumption of alcohol while they are on shift.
3. Security cameras are required and a minimum of ten days stored video footage

from the security system to be maintained at all times.
4. Business hours to be determined as appropriate by the Planning Commission. Elko

Police Department recommends closing time on Friday and Saturday of 2:00 a.m.
(following day) and all other days of the week close time of 1:00 a.m. (following day).

Commissioner Beck’s findings to the support the motion were the conditional use is in
conformance with the Land Use Component of the Master Plan. The conditional use is in
conformance with the Transportation Component of the Master Plan and existing
transportation infrastructure. The conditional use is in conformance with the Wellhead
Protection Plan. Approval of the Conditional Use Permit is required for the proposed use
to be in conformance to Sections 3-2-3 & 3-2-10 of the Elko City Code. The proposed use is
in conformance with Sections 3-2-4, 3-2-17, and 3-2-18 of the Elko City Code. The proposed
use conforms to Section 3-8 of Elko City Code.

Made by Stefan Beck, Seconded by Gratton Miller.

*Motion Passed Unanimously. (6-0)

B. MISCELLANEOUS ITEMS, PETITIONS, AND COMMUNICATIONS



1. Review, consideration and possible approval of Final Map No. 1-20, filed by Kelly
Builders, LLC, for the development of a subdivision entitled Townhomes at Ruby
View involving the proposed division of approximately 1.297 acres of property into
10 townhouse lots for residential development and 1 common lot within the R
(Single Family and Multiple Family Residential) Zoning District, and matters related
thereto. FOR POSSIBLE ACTION

Subject property is located on the south side of Indian View Heights Drive at the
intersection of Griswold Drive. (APN 001-530-026)

Ms. Rambo went over the City of Elko Staff Report dated April 20, 2020. Staff recommended
approval. She explained that the Planning Commission would need to add a couple conditions.
The first one is to consider changing the public access easement to a reciprocal access easement
that benefits only the property owner. The second one is to fill in the two missing dimensions
along the access easement.

Ms. Laughlin recommended conditional approval as presented.

Mr. Thibault explained that his two conditions were mentioned by Ms. Rambo, so he
recommended conditional approval as presented.

Chief Griego had no concerns and recommended approval.

Ms. Archuleta explained that Mr. Wilkinson was having technical difficulties, but he stated that
he did not have any comments or concerns on this application.

***Motion: Recommend that the City Council accept, on behalf of the public, the parcels of
land offered for dedication for public use in conformity with the terms of the offer of
dedication; that the final map substantially complies with the tentative map; that the City
Council approve the agreement to install improvements in accordance with the approved
construction plans that satisfies the requirements of Title 2, Chapter 3, and conditionally
approve Final Map 1-20 with conditions listed in the Staff Report dated April 20, 2020 with
additions, listed as follows:

1. The Developer shall execute a Performance and Maintenance Agreement in
accordance with Section 3-3-21 of City code.  The Performance Agreement shall be
secured in accordance with Section 3-3-22 of City code.  In conformance with Section
3-3-21 of City code, the public improvements shall be completed within a time of no
later than two (2) years of the date of Final Map approval by the City Council unless
extended as stipulated in City code.

2. The Performance and Maintenance Agreement shall be approved by the City
Council.

3. The Developer shall enter into the Performance and Maintenance Agreement within
30 days of approval of the Final Map by the City Council.

4. The Final Map for Townhomes at Ruby View is approved for 10 townhouse lots and
1 common lot.

5. The Utility Department will issue a Will Serve Letter for the subdivision.
6. Site disturbance shall not commence prior to approval of the project’s construction

plans by the Nevada Department of Environmental Protection.
7. Construction shall not commence prior to Final Map approval by the City Council



and issuance of a will-serve letter by the City of Elko.
8. Conformance with the conditions of approval of the Tentative Map is required.
9. The Owner/Developer is to provide the appropriate contact information for the

qualified engineer and engineering firm contracted to oversee the project along with
the required inspection and testing necessary to produce an As-Built for submittal to
the City of Elko.  The Engineer of Record is to ensure all materials meet the latest
edition of the Standard Specifications for Public Works.  All right-of-way and utility
improvements are to be certified by the Engineer of Record for the project.

10. Consider changing the Public Access Easement to a Reciprocal Access Easement that
benefits only the property owner.

11. Fill in the two missing dimensions along the Access Easement.

Commissioner Beck’s findings to support the motion were the Final Map for Townhomes
at Ruby View has been presented before expiration of the subdivision proceedings in
accordance with NRS 278.360(1)(a)(2) and City Code. The Final Map is in conformance
with the Tentative Map. The proposed subdivision is in conformance with the Land Use
and Transportation Component of the Master Plan. The proposed development conforms
with Sections 3-3-9 through 3-3-16 (inclusive). The Subdivider shall be responsible for all
required improvements in conformance with Section 3-3-17 of City Code. The Subdivider
has submitted construction plans in conformance with Section 3-3-18 of City Code. The
Subdivider has submitted plans to the City and State agencies for review to receive all
required permits in accordance with the requirements of Section 3-3-19 of City Code. The
Subdivider has submitted construction plans which, having been found to be in
conformance with Section 3-3-20 of City Code, have been approved by City Staff. The
Subdivider will be required to enter into a Performance Agreement to conform to Section
3-3-21 of City Code. The Subdivider will be required to provide a Performance and
Maintenance Guarantee as stipulated in the Performance Agreement in conformance with
Section 3-3-22 of City Code. The proposed development conforms to Sections 3-2-3, 3-2-4,
3-2-5(E), 3-2-5(G), and 3-2-17 of City Code. The proposed development is in conformance
with Section 3-8 of City Code.

Made by Stefan Beck, Seconded by Giovanni Puccinelli.

*Motion Passed Unanimously. (6-0)

2. Review, consideration and possible approval of Final Map No. 2-20, filed by
Koinonia Development, LP, for the development of a subdivision entitled Mountain
View Townhomes – Unit 1 involving the proposed division of approximately 1.00
acres of property into 12 townhouse lots for residential development and 1 common
lot approximately 26,784 sq. ft. in area and 1 remainder parcel approximately 2.38
acres in size, within the CT (Commercial Transitional) Zoning District, and matters
related thereto. FOR POSSIBLE ACTION

Subject property is located on the south side of N 5th Street at the intersection of
Mary Way. (APN 001-610-096, 001-610-097, 001-610-098, 001-610-099, and a
portion of 001-610-075)

Luke Fitzgerald and Tom Ballew stated that they were available for questions.



Ms. Rambo went over the City of Elko Staff Report dated April 20, 2020. Staff recommended
approval with the findings and conditions listed in the Staff Report.

Ms. Laughlin recommended conditional approval as presented by staff.

Mr. Thibault recommended approval as presented by staff.

Chief Griego had no comments and recommended approval.

Ms. Laughlin stated that the City Manager’s office recommended approval as presented.

***Motion: Recommended that the City Council accept, on behalf of the public, the parcels
of land offered for dedication for public use in conformity with the terms of the offer of
dedication; that the final map substantially complies with the tentative map; that the City
Council approve the agreement to install improvements in accordance with the approved
construction plans that satisfies the requirements of Title 2, Chapter 3, and conditionally
approve Final Map 2-20 with conditions listed in the Staff Report dated April 20, 2020,
listed as follows:

1. The Developer shall execute a Performance and Maintenance Agreement in
accordance with Section 3-3-21 of City code.  The Performance Agreement shall be
secured in accordance with Section 3-3-22 of City code.  In conformance with
Section 3-3-21 of City code, the public improvements shall be completed within a
time of no later than two (2) years of the date of Final Map approval by the City
Council unless extended as stipulated in City code.

2. The Performance and Maintenance Agreement shall be approved by the City
Council.

3. The Developer shall enter into the Performance and Maintenance Agreement within
30 days of approval of the Final Map by the City Council.

4. The Final Map for Mountain View Townhomes – Unit 1 is approved for 12
townhouse lots and 1 common lot.

5. The Utility Department will issue a Will Serve Letter for the subdivision.
6. Site disturbance shall not commence prior to approval of the project’s construction

plans by the Nevada Department of Environmental Protection.
7. Construction shall not commence prior to Final Map approval by the City Council

and issuance of a will-serve letter by the City of Elko.
8. Conformance with the conditions of approval of the Tentative Map is required.
9. The Owner/Developer is to provide the appropriate contact information for the

qualified engineer and engineering firm contracted to oversee the project along with
the required inspection and testing necessary to produce an As-Built for submittal
to the City of Elko.  The Engineer of Record is to ensure all materials meet the latest
edition of the Standard Specifications for Public Works.  All right-of-way and utility
improvements are to be certified by the Engineer of Record for the project.

10. Fire Department Turnaround to be constructed to 2018 IFC Appendix D 102.1
Access and Loading...approved driving surface capable of supporting the imposed load
of fire apparatus weighing up to 75,000 pounds.

11. Fire department turn around be labeled as “FIRE DEPARTMENT TURN-
AROUND ACCESS EASEMENT”.



Commissioner Beck’s findings to support the motion were the Final Map for Mountain
View Townhomes – Unit 1 has been presented before expiration of the subdivision
proceedings in accordance with NRS 278.360(1)(a)(2) and City Code. The Final Map is in
conformance with the Tentative Map. The proposed subdivision is in conformance with the
Land Use and Transportation Components of the Master Plan. The proposed development
conforms with Sections 3-3-9 through 3-3-16 (inclusive). The Subdivider shall be
responsible for all required improvements in conformance with Section 3-3-17 of City
Code. The Subdivider has submitted construction plans in conformance with Section 3-3-
18 of City Code. The Subdivider has submitted plans to the City and State agencies for
review to receive all required permits in accordance with the requirements of Section 3-3-
19 of City Code. The Subdivider has submitted construction plans which, having been
found to be in conformance with Section 3-3-20 of City Code, have been approved by City
Staff. The Subdivider will be required to enter into a Performance Agreement to conform
to Section 3-3-21 of City Code. The Subdivider will be required to provide a Performance
and Maintenance Guarantee as stipulated in the Performance Agreement in conformance
with Section 3-3-22 of City Code. The proposed development conforms to Sections 3-2-3, 3-
2-4, 3-2-5(E), 3-2-5(G), and 3-2-17 of City Code. The proposed development is in
conformance with Section 3-8 of City Code.

Made by Stefan Beck, Seconded by Gratton Miller.

*Motion Passed Unanimously. (6-0)

3. Review, consideration and possible recommendation to City Council for the 2020
City of Elko Land Inventory update. FOR POSSIBLE ACTIO

City of Elko Land Inventory spreadsheet is to be updated when necessary

Ms. Laughlin went over the proposed changes to the City of Elko Land Inventory.

Commissioner Gratton Miller had a question on the Well 16 property. He asked if the property
would be available to the land owners adjacent to the Well first.

Ms. Laughlin explained that staff had received applications from both adjacent property owners
to purchase the property. The Nevada Revised Statues does require that the City sell it at a public
auction. Right now it is in the process of being sold. Staff will need to get an appraisal and then it
will go to City Council as a public hearing and public auction.

***Motion: Forward a recommendation to City Council to approve an update to the City
Land Inventory.

Made by Stefan Beck, Seconded by Giovanni Puccinelli.

*Motion Passed Unanimously. (6-0)

APPROVAL OF MINUTES



March 3, 2020 – Regular Meeting FOR POSSIBLE ACTION

***Motion: Approve the Planning Commission Minutes dated March 3, 2020

Moved by Stefan Beck, Seconded by Giovanni Puccinelli

*Motion Passed Unanimously. (6-0)

II. REPORTS

A. Summary of City Council Actions.

Cathy reported that City Council, on April 14th, approved an Amendment to the Great
Basin Performance Agreement and the Master Plan Amendment. She also reported the
Planning Department would be accepting applications again.

B. Summary of Redevelopment Agency Actions.

Cathy reported that the RDA had a meeting on April 14th. They approved over $101,000 in
Storefront Improvement Grants and extended one 2019 Grant.

C. Professional articles, publications, etc.

1. Zoning Bulletin

D. Miscellaneous Elko County

E. Training

COMMENTS BY THE GENERAL PUBLIC

There were no public comments made at this time.

NOTE: The Chairman or Vice Chairman reserves the right to change the order of the agenda
and if the agenda is not completed, to recess the meeting and continue on another
specified date and time. Additionally, the Planning Commission reserves the right to
combine two or more agenda items, and/or remove an item from the agenda, or delay
discussion relating to an item on the agenda at any time.

ADJOURNMENT

There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned.

Jeff Dalling, Chairman Tera Hooiman, Secretary



CITY OF ELKO
PLANNING COMMISSION

REGULAR MEETING MINUTES
5:30 P.M., P.D.S.T., TUESDAY, JUNE 2, 2020
ELKO CITY HALL, COUNCIL CHAMBERS,
1751 COLLEGE AVENUE, ELKO, NEVADA

GoToMeeting.com
https://global.gotomeeting.com/join/123367613

CALL TO ORDER

Jeff Dalling, Chairman of the City of Elko Planning Commission, called the meeting to order at
5:30 p.m.

ROLL CALL
Present: Jeff Dalling

Tera Hooiman
Giovanni Puccinelli
Evi Buell
John Anderson
Stefan Beck
Gratton Miller

City Staff Present: Scott Wilkinson, Assistant City Manager
Cathy Laughlin, City Planner
Michele Rambo, Development Manager
Shelby Archuleta, Planning Technician
Kelly Wooldridge, City Clerk
Bob Thibault, Civil Engineer
Matthew Griego, Fire Chief

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

COMMENTS BY THE GENERAL PUBLIC

There were no public comments made at this time.

I. NEW BUSINESS

A. PUBLIC HEARING

1. Review, consideration, and possible action of Conditional Use Permit No. 2-20, filed
by Scott and Leslie Rangel, which would allow for a professional office within an
RO (Residential Office) Zoning District, and matters related thereto. FOR
POSSIBLE ACTION

The subject property is located generally on the west corner of the intersection of 9th

Street and Court Street. (902 Court Street - APN 001-281-001)



Leslie Rangel stated that she was available to answer any questions.

Cathy Laughlin, City Planner, announced that the public phone line was working for anyone that
wanted to call in to give public comments. She then went over the City of Elko Staff Report
dated May 18, 2020. Staff recommended conditional approval with the conditions and findings
listed in the Staff Report.

Michele Rambo, Development Manager, had no comments or concerns.

Bob Thibault, Civil Engineer, recommended approval with no additional comments or concerns.

Matthew Griego, Fire Chief, had no comments or concerns.

Scott Wilkinson, Assistant City Manager, had no comments concerns and recommended
approval as presented by staff.

***Motion: Conditionally approve Conditional Use Permit No. 2-20 subject to the
conditions in the City of Elko Staff Report dated May 18, 2020, listed as follows:

1. CUP 2-20 shall automatically lapse and be of no effect one (1) year from the date of
its issue unless the permit holder is actively engaged in developing the specific
property to the use for which the permit was issued.

2. The CUP 2-20 to be recorded with the Elko County Recorder within 90 days after the
commencement of the work for the conversion from single family dwelling to
professional office.

3. The permit is granted to the applicant Scott and Leslie Rangel for the use of a
professional office.

4. The permit shall be personal to the permittee and applicable only to the specific use
and to the specific property for which it is issued. However, the Planning Commission
may approve the transfer of the conditional use permit to another owner. Upon
issuance of an occupancy permit for the conditional use, signifying that all zoning and
site development requirements imposed in connection with the permit have been
satisfied, the conditional use permit shall thereafter be transferable and shall run with
the land, whereupon the maintenance or special conditions imposed by the permit, as
well as compliance with other provisions of the zoning district, shall be the
responsibility of the property owner.

5. The conditions of Variance 2-20 be met prior to occupancy of the building.

6. Revocable Permit 2-20 is approved by City Council for the parking encroachment
into the public right-of-way.

7. Merge lots 11 and 12 prior to certificate of occupancy to be issued for the building.

Commissioner Buell’s findings to support the motion were the proposed conditional use,
under the conditionally approved Residential Office district is consistent with the Land Use



Component of the Master Plan. The proposed conditional use meets Objectives 2 and 4 of
the Land Use Component of the Master Plan. The proposed conditional use is consistent
with the Transportation Component of the Master Plan. The proposed use, intensity of use
and limitations of intensity of use will not create any significant cumulative issues on the
existing transportation system. The proposed conditional use and repurposing the property
and structure conforms to the Redevelopment Plan. The proposed conditional use is
consistent with City of Elko Wellhead Protection Plan. The proposed use of the property
and allowed uses under the RO-Residential Office Zoning District do not present hazard to
City wells. The proposed use of the property requires a conditional use permit to conform
to Section 3-2-3 of City Code. The proposed conditional use based on conditional approval
of Variance 2-20 conforms to Section 3-2-4 of City Code. The proposed conditional use is in
conformance with Section 3-2-5(F)(3) RO-Residential Office based on conditional approval
of Variance 2-20. The property as developed is in conformance with City Code 3-2-17 for
the principal permitted use as a single family residence. Additional parking and ADA
access is required for conformance under the proposed conditional use. Parking in the
interior side yard setback will be required to be approved as part of Variance 2-20. The
parcel is not located within a designated Special Flood Hazard Area. Development under
the proposed conditional use will not adversely impact natural systems, or public/federal
lands such as waterways, wetlands, drainages, floodplains etc. or pose a danger to human
health and safety. The proposed conditional use permit is consistent with existing land uses
in the immediate vicinity.

Moved by Commissioner Evi Buell, Seconded by Commissioner Tera Hooiman.

*Motion passed unanimously. (7-0)

2. Review, consideration, and possible action on Variance No. 2-20, filed by Scott and
Leslie Rangel, for a reduction of the required interior side yard setback from 10’ to
2.2’, exterior side yard setback from 12’ to 9.8’, front yard setback from 15’ to 11.7’
and required off street parking to be located within the interior side yard setback for
a professional office in an RO (Residential Office) Zoning District, and matters
related thereto. FOR POSSIBLE ACTION

The subject property is located generally on the west corner of the intersection of 9th

Street and Court Street. (902 Court Street - APN 001-281-001)

Ms. Rangel stated that Lana Carter and Bob Morley were also available for questions.

Ms. Laughlin went through the City of Elko Staff Report dated May 18, 2020. Staff
recommended conditional approval with the conditions and findings listed in the staff report.

Ms. Rambo had no comments or concerns.

Mr. Thibault recommended approval with no additional comments or concerns.

Chief Griego had no comments or concerns and recommended approval



Mr. Wilkinson had no comments and recommended approval as presented by staff.

***Motion: Conditionally approve Variance No. 2-20 subject to the condition in the City of
Elko Staff Report dated May 18, 2020, listed as follows:

1. The variance is granted for the principal structure and parking within the interior
side yard setback. No new structures or accessory structures to be constructed
within the required setbacks.

2. Commencement within one year and completion within eighteen (18) months.

Commissioner Buell’s findings to support the motion were the variance approval is in
conformance with the Land Use Component of the Master Plan. The property is located
within the Redevelopment Area. The proposed variance and repurposing the property and
structure conforms to the Redevelopment Plan. The property does not conform to Section
3-2-4 of City Code. Approval of the variance application is required to bring the property
into conformance. The proposed variance is not in conformance with Section 3-2-5(R)
Residential Office, Approval of the variance application is required to bring the property
into conformance. Approval of Variance No. 2-20 will bring the property into conformance
with Section 3-2-17 of City Code. It does not appear that granting of the variance will
result in material damage or prejudice to other properties in the vicinity, nor will granting
of the variance be detrimental to the interest, health, safety and general welfare of the
public. Granting of the variance will not substantially impair the intent or purpose of the
zoning ordinance. Granting of the variance will not impair natural resources. The
proposed variance is consistent with surrounding land uses.

Moved by Commissioner Evi Buell, seconded by Commissioner Giovanni Puccinelli.

*Motion passed unanimously. (7-0)

B. MISCELLANEOUS ITEMS, PETITIONS, AND COMMUNICATIONS

1. Review and consideration of Temporary Use Permit No. 1-20, filed by High Desert
Imaging, LLC., on behalf of Silver River Properties, LLC, for the temporary use of a
mobile MRI unit located within a C (Commercial) Zoning District, and matters
related thereto. FOR POSSIBLE ACTION

The subject property is located on the northeast side of Mountain City Hwy
approximately 145’ from North Cedar St. (APN 001-131-009) Within A+ Urgent
Care at 976 Mountain City Hwy.

Steve Mims, Administrator of High Desert Imaging, stated that he was available to answer
questions.

Ms. Laughlin went over the City of Elko Staff Report dated May 18, 2020. Staff Recommended
conditional approval with the conditions and findings listed in the Staff Report. One of the things
that was not mentioned in the Staff Report, because it is still a draft and hasn’t been adopted, is
the City of Elko has been working as part of a very lengthy process to develop a Comprehensive
Economic Development Strategy for Northeastern Nevada through the NNRDA. Part of the



goals and objectives of this Strategy is to provide additional healthcare services and providers to
the area as possible. Ms. Laughlin felt approving this Temporary Use Permit would be in support
of this strategy. If the application were to be denied, Ms. Laughlin felt it would force everyone to
the only other provider in town for an MRI.

Ms. Rambo had no comments or concerns and supported all the comments from Ms. Laughlin.

Mr. Thibault had no comments or concerns.

Chief Griego had no comments or concerns and recommended approval.

Mr. Wilkinson had no comments and recommended approval as presented by staff.

Chairman Jeff Dalling said that he had a few questions for the applicant. He explained that he
was on the Planning Commission four years ago when it came through, and it was a little
controversial then. He said four years seemed like a lot of time to get this done. There have been
other people on Mountain City Highway that had to do beautification projects because of the fact
that it is Mountain City Highway and we are trying to make it nicer. You guys were bringing in a
trailer and parking it next to a building. It was a little controversial because it didn’t seem fair.
Chairman Dalling said he remembered the reason the Temporary Use Permit was approved was
because it would be good for the community. He felt that four years was plenty of time and he
thought they would be in a permanent building by this time. He then asked Mr. Mims to explain
why four years wasn’t long enough.

Mr. Mims said that he appreciated the comments and support that they have received. In
consideration of extending this permit four years does seem like a long time. They were trying to
bring a business here and move here. Him and his family love the Elko area and wanted to make
a place to spend rest of their lives. In doing that they wanted to bring a way to support
themselves, and that was expanding a radiology business and opening an imaging center. Four
years ago it was a new business, and they thought they would know within year or two if the
business would be successful. Fortunately, they are still here, and even with the current COVID-
19 crisis they are still successful and hanging in there. It is certainly not due to lack of effort. Mr.
Mims stated that his ideal situation was that they would have their own building, more parking,
and a unique site. They have explored various sites. They have looked at the Surgery Center that
was supposed to go in by JC Penney, which is something they are still considering doing.
Ideally, they thought quickest thing they could do was to move the MRI inside the building that
they are in now, which was their plan four years ago. A Plus Urgent Care has expanded their
business, so they have taken over more space, which pinched the applicant for space to move the
MRI into the building. In addition to that there is a physical therapist inside the building as well.
That opportunity doesn’t look as promising as it did before. The other thing they have looked at
is the old Elko Diagnostic Imaging space, and due to the cost of that space, it is cost prohibitive.
Their goal is to provide high quality medical imaging and to keep the community here. They are
certainly not rolling in the dough. They are cash flow positive, which is great, but it is very
expensive to build a building, do the improvements, and move the equipment that they have. In
the last 6 months, Mr. Mims has gotten a quote for moving from Philips Medical Equipment.
Just to move the CT and the MRI it was going to be $350,000. Before construction even begins
and preparing the site, it is going to be $350,000 just to get those two pieces of equipment out
and moved. It’s challenging, and the last thing they want to do is raise the prices. They like



having the significant difference between the hospital and them. Mr. Mims didn’t want to get any
closer to the hospital prices, so they can afford to move. He was trying to do that within the
means that they have now. This is still something that they are trying to accomplish, but it is
taking more time than they expected.

Chairman Dalling said it has been four years and you haven’t secured a new lease on a new
building, but you did go in to this knowing it was temporary. He stated that the applicant said
they are out looking for a place, but then he saw in their application that they are asking for “five
years, or preferably longer.” Mr. Dalling asked the applicant if they wanted to talk about that.

Mr. Mims explained that he was asking for a period of time that he thought they could
accomplish this in.  Ask for five and try to get it done in three was his goal, versus asking for
three and having to come back and do this all over again. They have done their best to make it
look good. They have put up signage and built the trailer inside the building, so it looks part of
the space. The location of the MRI makes it difficult to see. Aesthetically, they are trying to keep
it as nice as they can. Their goal was to accomplish this in the first four years, but they didn’t
achieve that. One thing they did achieve was a successful business and they are keeping people
in the community. Mr. Mims stated that his goal was to ask for as many years as they could and
try to get it done within those years.

Chairman Dalling said he felt if the Commission gave the applicant four years, he would take it
and be back for another four. He asked the applicant if two years would help out.

Mr. Mims didn’t think two years was enough time. The time that it takes to find space, design
the space, and have physicists come out makes this a huge project. Mr. Mims explained that he
did an imaging center in Carson City that took 3.5 years. It takes a very significant amount of
time and capital. The COVID thing hasn’t helped. They are doing their best to stay open, but it
has impacted the cash flow.

Mr. Wilkinson asked the applicant to provide an in depth description of the business. He thought
it was important to understand that some of the operation takes place inside the main building.
The Temporary Use applies to some of the equipment, not all of the equipment for the business.
Mr. Wilkinson also asked the applicant to inform the Planning Commission of the number of
employees and their average salary, or the range of salaries for those jobs. He thought the
applicant could talk to the Planning Commission about the impact it would have on the business
if this permit was not granted.

Mr. Mims explained that there is only one piece of equipment in the trailer, which is the MRI.
Within their business they offer the following services: x-ray, ultrasound, DEXA, CT,
Mammography, and MRI. The number of staff changes, but it is between 8 and 10. They also
offer opportunities for students going through X-ray school to come in to get their training as
well. The average salary ranges from $15 per hour to $46 per hour. If this application was not
approved it would be devastating to the business. They wouldn’t be able to offer MRI services,
which would make it a challenge to be in business.

Chairman Dalling thought this was great service, and he thought that was why the Planning
Commission approved it last time. He didn’t understand and wished they could give it a forever
permit, because it sounded like it was always going to be there.



Mr. Mims said he would have preferred the same thing. Having the need to get a Temporary Use
Permit was something that he wasn’t aware of until they were pretty far along in the project.
When they bought the equipment and the trailer they were not aware that they needed a
Temporary Use Permit.

***Motion: Conditionally approve Temporary Use Permit No. 1-20 subject to the following
conditions found in the City of Elko Staff Report dated May 18, 2020, listed as follows:

Planning Department:
1. The use is permitted for a period of 4 years
2. The temporary use applies to APN 001-131-009
3. The applicant shall maintain fire access around the MRI trailer.
4. All items/materials stored must be inert.

Commissioner Buell’s findings to support the motion were the proposed TUP is in
conformance with the Land Use Component of the Master Plan. The proposed TUP is in
conformance with the Transportation Component of the Master Plan. The proposed TUP
is in conformance with Elko City Code 3-2-3(C)(5). The proposed TUP is in conformance
with Elko City Code 3-2-17. The parcel is not located in a designated flood zone.

Moved by Commissioner Evi Buell, Seconded by Giovanni Puccinelli.

*Motion passed unanimously. (7-0)

2. Review, consideration, and possible recommendation to City Council for Vacation
No. 1-20, filed by Brian and Dena Starkey, for the vacation of the southeasterly
portion of Juniper Street and northeasterly portion of 6th Street, consisting of an area
approximately 3,636 sq. ft., and matters related thereto. FOR POSSIBLE ACTION

The subject property is located generally on the east corner of the 6th Street and
Juniper Street intersection, (698 6th Street- APN 001-231-001)

Brian Starkey explained that what they were here for was to get the place cleaned up. It is a
corner with no sidewalk, and it’s kind of a no man’s land. Vacating the area would take care of it
and clean it up.

Ms. Laughlin went over the City of Elko Staff Report dated May 18, 2020. Staff recommended
conditional approval with the conditions and findings listed in the Staff Report.

Chairman Dalling asked if the applicant was aware of the requirements, and if he was okay with
them.

Mr. Starkey stated that he was ok with the conditions. He added that he appreciate the City’s
help with doing the patch back work.

Ms. Rambo had no comments.



Mr. Thibault had no comments and recommended approval.

Chief Griego had no comments or concerns and recommended approval.

Mr. Wilkinson had no comments or concerns.

*** Motion: Forward a recommendation to City Council to adopt a resolution which
conditionally approves Vacation No. 1-20 subject to the conditions listed in the City of Elko
Staff Report dated May 18, 2020, listed as follows:

1. Approved conditions are to be included in the Resolution.

2. The applicant is responsible for all costs associated with the recordation of the
vacation.

3. Written response from all non-City utilities is on file with the City of Elko with
regard to the vacation in accordance with NRS 278.480(6) before the order is
recorded.

4. Required public improvements be completed within one (1) year from date of
approval by the City Council of vacation 1-20.

5. The vacation will not be recorded until public improvements have been completed
and accepted by City of Elko staff.

Commissioner Buell’s findings to support the recommendation were the proposed vacation
is in conformance with the City of Elko Master Plan Land Use Component. The proposed
vacation is in conformance with the City of Elko Master Plan Transportation Component.
The proposed vacation is in conformance with the Redevelopment Plan. The proposed
vacation is in conformance with NRS 278.479 to 480, inclusive. The proposed vacation is in
conformance with City Code 3-2-5(E) and 8-7.

Moved by Commissioner Evi Buell, Seconded by Commissioner Tera Hooiman.

*Motion passed unanimously. (7-0)

II. REPORTS

A. Summary of City Council Actions.

Ms. Laughlin reported at the City Council Meeting on May 12th they approved the Final
Map and Performance Agreement for the Ruby View Townhomes, approved the Final Map,
Performance Agreement, and Slope and Utility Easement for the Mountain View
Townhomes, and they approved the Land Inventory Update. They also accepted the petition
for the Starkey Vacation.

B. Summary of Redevelopment Agency Actions.



Ms. Laughlin reported that the RDA and RAC had not had any meetings.

C. Professional articles, publications, etc.

1. Zoning Bulletin

D. Miscellaneous Elko County

E. Training

Ms. Laughlin announced that the July Planning Commission Meeting would be held at The
Convention Center in the Turquoise Room to provide for proper distance separation.

Commissioner Buell stated that she wouldn’t be able to attend the next meeting live.

COMMENTS BY THE GENERAL PUBLIC

There were no public comments made at this time.

NOTE: The Chairman or Vice Chairman reserves the right to change the order of the agenda
and if the agenda is not completed, to recess the meeting and continue on another
specified date and time. Additionally, the Planning Commission reserves the right to
combine two or more agenda items, and/or remove an item from the agenda, or delay
discussion relating to an item on the agenda at any time.

ADJOURNMENT

There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned.

Jeff Dalling, Chairman Tera Hooiman, Secretary



Agenda Item # I.A.1. 

Created on 6/11/2020  Planning Commission Action Sheet 

Elko City Planning Commission 
Agenda Action Sheet 

 

1. Review, consideration and possible approval of Final Map No. 3-20, filed by Scott 

Reutner Properties, LLC, for the development of a subdivision entitled Aspen 

Heights involving the proposed division of approximately 2.54 acres of property into 

9 lots for residential development within the R (Single Family and Multiple Family 

Residential) Zoning District, and matters related thereto. FOR POSSIBLE 

ACTION 

 

2. Meeting Date:  July 7, 2020 

 

3. Agenda Category: NEW BUSINESS  

 

4. Time Required: 15 Minutes 

 

5. Background Information: Subject property is located on the south side of Celtic Way 

between Shadow Ridge Drive and Sunnyside Avenue. (APN 001-660-011) 

 

6. Business Impact Statement: Not Required 

 

7. Supplemental Agenda Information: Application and Staff Report 

 

8. Recommended Motion: Recommend that the City Council accept, on behalf of the 

public, the parcels of land offered for dedication for public use in conformity with 

the terms of the offer of dedication; that the final map substantially complies with 

the tentative map; that the City Council approve the agreement to install 

improvements in accordance with the approved construction plans that satisfies the 

requirements of Title 2 Chapter 3, and conditionally approve Final Map 3-20 with 

findings and conditions listed in the Staff Report dated June 11, 2020. 

 

9. Findings: See Staff Report dated June 11, 2020 

 

10. Prepared By: Michele Rambo, AICP, Development Manager 

 

11. Agenda Distribution:  Scott Reutner Properties, LLC 

Attn: Scott Reutner 

1770 Sharps Access Road 

Elko, NV 89801 

 

High Desert Engineering 

Attn: Tom Ballew 

640 Idaho Street 

Elko, NV 89801 

 





Page 1 of 8

CITY OF ELKO STAFF REPORT

REPORT DATE: June 11, 2020
PLANNING COMMISSION DATE: July 7, 2020
AGENDA ITEM NUMBER: I.A.1.
APPLICATION NUMBER: Final Map 3-20
APPLICANT: Scott Reutner Properties, LLC
PROJECT DESCRIPTION: Aspen Heights

A Final Map for the division of approximately 2.54 acres into 9 lots for single family
residential development within an R (Single-Family and Multi-Family Residential) zoning
district.

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:

RECOMMEND CONDITIONAL APPROVAL, subject to findings of fact, and conditions as stated
in this report.

City of Elko
1751 College Avenue

Elko, NV  89801
(775) 777-7160

FAX (775) 777-7119



Final Map 3-20
Aspen Heights Final Map

Page 2 of 8

PROJECT INFORMATION

PARCEL NUMBER: 001-660-011

PARCEL SIZE: 2.54 Acres

EXISTING ZONING: (R) Single-Family and Multi-Family Residential.

MASTER PLAN DESIGNATION: (RES-MD) Residential Medium Density

EXISTING LAND USE: Vacant

BACKGROUND:

1. The Final Map for Aspen Heights has been presented before expiration of the subdivision
proceedings in accordance with NRS 278.360(1)(a)(2) and City code.

2. The Planning Commission reviewed and recommended a conditional approval to the City
Council on the Aspen Heights Tentative Map on May 27, 2016.

3. The City Council conditionally approved the Aspen Heights Tentative Map in June 2016.
4. A previous Final Map was reviewed and forwarded to the City Council on December 20,

2016.
5. This original Final Map was conditionally approved by the City Council in January 2017.
6. The approved Final Map was never recorded and has since expired.
7. No phasing was shown on the Tentative Map.
8. The subdivision is located on APN 001-660-011.
9. The proposed subdivision consists of 9 residential lots.
10. The total subdivided area is approximately 2.54 acres.
11. The proposed density is 3.54 units per acre.
12. Approximately 0.367 acres are offered for dedication for street development.
13. Drainage and utility easements are provided along all lot lines.
14. The property is located on the south side of Celtic Way between Shadow Ridge Drive

and Sunnyside Avenue.

NEIGHBORHOOD CHARACTERISTICS:

The property is surrounded by:
 North: Single-Family Residential (R1) / Under Construction (Cambridge Estates)
 South: Single-Family and Multiple-Family Residential (R) / Developed
 East: Single-Family and Multiple-Family Residential (R) / Developed
 West: Single-Family and Multiple-Family Residential (R) / Developed

PROPERTY CHARACTERISTICS:

 The property is an undeveloped residential parcel.
 The area abuts previous residential development to the east, west, and south. The north

side of the property includes both previous residential development and the new
Cambridge Estates, which is currently constructing public improvements.



Final Map 3-20
Aspen Heights Final Map

Page 3 of 8

 The parcel has some slope down to from the west to east, which is incorporated into the
design of the lots where possible.

 The property will be accessed off of Celtic Drive via Jennings Way.

APPLICABLE MASTER PLAN AND CITY CODE SECTIONS:

 City of Elko Master Plan – Land Use Component
 City of Elko Master Plan – Transportation Component
 City of Elko Redevelopment Plan
 City of Elko Wellhead Protection Plan
 City of Elko Zoning – Section 3-3-7 Final Map State (Stage III)
 City of Elko Zoning – Section 3-3-8 Content and Format of Final Map Submittal
 City of Elko Zoning – Section 3-3-9 to 3-3-16 (Inclusive) Subdivision Design Standards
 City of Elko Zoning – Section 3-3-17 to 3-3-22 (Inclusive) Public Improvements/

Guarantees
 City of Elko Zoning – Section 3-2-3, 3-2-4, 3-2-5(E), 3-2-5(G), and 3-2-17 Zoning Code

Standards
 City of Elko Zoning – Section 3-8 Flood Plain Management

MASTER PLAN - Land use:

Conformance with the Land Use component of the Master Plan was evaluated with review and
approval of the Tentative Map.  The Final Map is in conformance with the Tentative Map.

Therefore, the proposed subdivision is in conformance with the Land Use Component of the
Master Plan.

MASTER PLAN - Transportation:

Conformance with the Transportation component of the Master Plan was evaluated with review
and approval of the Tentative Map.  The Final Map is in conformance with the Tentative Map.

Therefore, the proposed subdivision is in conformance with the Transportation Component of the
Master Plan.

ELKO REDEVELOPMENT PLAN:

The property is not located within the redevelopment area.

ELKO WELLHEAD PROTECTION PLAN:

The property is located outside of any capture zone for City of Elko wells.  Development of the
site is required to be connected to a programmed sewer system and all street drainage will be
directed to a storm sewer system.

As the project is designed, it does not present a hazard to City wells.

SECTION 3-3-7 FINAL MAP STAGE (STAGE III):

Pre-submission Requirements (C)(1) – The Final Map is in conformance with the zone
requirements.



Final Map 3-20
Aspen Heights Final Map

Page 4 of 8

Pre-submission Requirements (C)(2) – The proposed Final Map conforms to the Tentative
Map.

SECTION 3-3-8 CONTENT AND FORMAT OF FINAL MAP SUBMITTAL:

A. Form and Content – The Final Map conforms to the required size specifications and
provides the appropriate affidavits and certifications.

B. Identification Data
1. The Final Map identifies the subdivision and provides its location by section,

township, range, and county.
2. The Final Map was prepared by a properly licensed surveyor.
3. The Final Map provides a scale, north arrow, and date of preparation.

C. Survey Data
1. The boundaries of the subdivision are fully balanced and closed.
2. Any exceptions are noted on the Final Map.
3. The Final Map is tied to a section corner.
4. The location and description of any physical encroachments upon the boundary of

the subdivision are noted on the Final Map.
D. Descriptive Data

1. The name, right-of-way lines, courses, lengths, and widths of all streets and
easements are noted on the Final Map.

2. All drainage ways are noted on the Final Map.
3. All utility and public service easements are noted on the Final Map.
4. The location and dimensions of all lots, parcels, and exceptions are shown on the

Final Map.
5. All residential lots are numbered consecutively on the Final Map.
6. There are no sites dedicated to the public shown on the Final Map.
7. The locations of adjoining subdivisions are noted on the Final Map with required

information.
8. There are no deed restrictions proposed.

E. Dedication and Acknowledgment
1. The owner’s certificate has the required dedication information for all easements

and right-of-ways.
2. The execution of dedication is acknowledged with space to be certified by a

notary public.
F. Additional Information

1. All centerline monuments for streets are noted as being set on the Final Map.
2. The centerline and width of each right-of-way is noted on the Final Map.
3. The Final Map indicates the location of monuments that will be set to determine

the boundaries of the subdivision.
4. The length and bearing of each lot line is identified on the Final Map.
5. The Final Map is not located adjacent to a city boundary.
6. The Final Map identifies the location of the section lines nearest the property.

G. City to Check
1. Closure calculations have been provided. Civil improvement plans have been

approved. Drainage plans have been approved.  An engineer’s estimate has been
provided.

2. The lot closures are within the required tolerances.



Final Map 3-20
Aspen Heights Final Map

Page 5 of 8

H. Required Certifications
1. The Owner’s Certificate is shown on the Final Map.
2. The Owner’s Certificate offers for dedication all right-of-ways shown on the Final

Map.
3. A Clerk Certificate is shown on the Final Map, certifying the signature of the City

Council.
4. The Owner’s Certificate offers for dedication all easements shown on the Final

Map.
5. A Surveyor’s Certificate is shown on the Final Map and provides the required

language.
6. The City Engineer’s Certificate is shown on the Final Map.
7. A certificate from the Nevada Division of Environmental Protection is provided

with the required language.
8. The engineer of record has submitted the Tentative Map and construction plans to

the state, but no written approval has been received.
9. A certificate from the Division of Water Resources is provided on the Final Map

with the required language.
10. The construction plans identify the required water meters for the subdivision.

SECTION 3-3-9 THROUGH 3-3-16 (INCLUSIVE)

The proposed subdivision was evaluated for conformance to the referenced sections of code
during the Tentative Map process.

The proposed development conforms with these sections of City code.

SECTION 3-3-17 RESPONSIBILITY FOR PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTS

The subdivider shall be responsible for all required improvements in conformance with this
section of City code.

SECTION 3-3-18 CONSTRUCTION PLANS

The subdivider has submitted plans to the city and state agencies for review to receive all
required permits in accordance with this section of City code. The plans have been approved by
City staff.

SECTION 3-3-19 CONSTRUCTION AND INSPECTION

The subdivider has submitted plans to the city and state agencies for review to receive all permits
in accordance with this section of City code.

SECTION 3-3-20 REQUIRED IMPROVEMENTS

The subdivider has submitted civil improvement plans which are in conformance with this
section of City code.



Final Map 3-20
Aspen Heights Final Map

Page 6 of 8

Civil improvements include curb, gutter, and sidewalk as well as paving and utilities within the
Celtic Drive right-of-way.

SECTION 3-3-21 AGREEMENT TO INSTALL IMPROVEMENTS

The subdivider will be required to enter into a Performance Agreement to conform to this section
of City code.

SECTION 3-3-22 PERFORMANCE AND MAINTENANCE GUARANTEES

The subdivider will be required to provide a Performance and Maintenance Guarantee as
stipulated in the Performance Agreement in conformance with this section of City code.

SECTIONS 3-2-3, 3-2-4, 3-2-5(E), 3-2-5(G), AND 3-2-17

The proposed subdivision was evaluated for conformance to the referenced sections of code
during the Tentative Map process.

The proposed development conforms with these sections of City code.

SECTION 3-8 FLOODPLAIN MANAGEMENT:

This parcel is not designated in a Special Flood Hazard Area (SFHA).

FINDINGS

1. The Final Map for Aspen Heights has been presented before expiration of the subdivision
proceedings in accordance with NRS 278.360(1)(a)(2) and City code.

2. The Final Map is in conformance with the Tentative Map.

3. The proposed subdivision is in conformance with the Land Use and Transportation
Components of the Master Plan.

4. The proposed development conforms with Sections 3-3-9 through 3-3-16 (inclusive).

5. The Subdivider shall be responsible for all required improvements in conformance with
Section 3-3-17 of City code.

6. The Subdivider has submitted construction plans in conformance with Section 3-3-18 of
City code.

7. The Subdivider has submitted plans to the city and state agencies for review to receive all
required permits in accordance with the requirements of Section 3-3-19 of City code.

8. The Subdivider has submitted construction plans which, having been found to be in
conformance with Section 3-3-20 of City code, have been approved by City staff.



Final Map 3-20
Aspen Heights Final Map

Page 7 of 8

9. The Subdivider will be required to enter into a Performance Agreement to conform to
Section 3-3-21 of City code.

10. The Subdivider will be required to provide a Performance and Maintenance Guarantee as
stipulated in the Performance Agreement in conformance with Section 3-3-22 of City
code.

11. The proposed development conforms to Sections 3-2-3, 3-2-4, 3-2-5(E), 3-2-5(G), and 3-
2-17 of City code.

12. The proposed development is in conformance with Section 3-8 of City code.

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:

Staff recommends this item be conditionally approved with the following conditions:

Community Development:

1. The Developer shall execute a Performance and Maintenance Agreement in accordance
with Section 3-3-21 of City code.  The Performance Agreement shall be secured in
accordance with Section 3-3-22 of City code.  In conformance with Section 3-3-21 of
City code, the public improvements shall be completed within a time of no later than two
(2) years of the date of Final Map approval by the City Council unless extended as
stipulated in City code.

2. The Performance and Maintenance Agreement shall be approved by the City Council.

3. The Developer shall enter into the Performance and Maintenance Agreement within 30
days of approval of the Final Map by the City Council or the Final Map approval
becomes null and void.

4. The Final Map for Aspen Heights is approved for 9 single family residential lots.

5. The Utility Department will issue a Will Serve Letter for the subdivision.

6. Site disturbance (including grading) shall not commence prior to approval of the project’s
construction plans by the Nevada Department of Environmental Protection.

7. Construction shall not commence prior to Final Map approval by the City Council and
issuance of a will-serve letter by the City of Elko.

8. Building permits will not be issued until the water system is approved to be put in service
by the Nevada Department of Environmental Protection.

9. Conformance with the conditions of approval of the Tentative Map is required.

10. The Owner/Developer is to provide the appropriate contact information for the qualified
engineer and engineering firm contracted to oversee the project along with the required
inspection and testing necessary to produce an As-Built for submittal to the City of Elko.



Final Map 3-20
Aspen Heights Final Map

Page 8 of 8

The Engineer of Record is to ensure all materials meet the latest edition of the Standard
Specifications for Public Works. The Engineer of Record is to certify that the project
was completed in conformance with the approved plans and specifications.

Public Works:

1. All public improvements at time of development per Elko City code.































Agenda item I.A.2 

Created on 3/23/2017  Planning Commission Action Sheet 

Elko City Planning Commission 
Agenda Action Sheet 

 

1. Title: Review, consideration, and possible recommendation to City Council for 

Parcel Map 5-20, filed by City of Elko. The parcel map creates four parcels from the 

existing one parcel and contains an offer of dedication for right-of-way for a portion 

of Wright Way, Rocky Road and Jennings Way. Due to the dedication, it is referred 

to the Planning Commission with recommendation to the City Council, and matters 

related thereto. FOR POSSIBLE ACTION  

 

2. Meeting Date:  July 7, 2020 

 

3. Agenda Category: NEW BUSINESS, MISCELLANEOUS ITEMS, PETITIONS, AND 

COMMUNICATIONS 
 

4. Time Required: 15 Minutes 

 

5. Background Information: The parcel map creates four parcels from the one parcel 

owned by the applicant, City of Elko. The map will be dedicating a portion of 

Wright Way, Rocky Road and Jennings Way to the City of Elko.  
 

6. Business Impact Statement: Not Required 

 

7. Supplemental Agenda Information: Application, Staff Report 

 

8. Recommended Motion: Forward a recommendation to City Council to conditionally 

approve Parcel Map 5-20 based on the facts, findings and conditions as presented in 

the Staff Report dated June 23, 2020. 
 

9. Findings: Findings: See Staff Report dated June 23, 2020 

 

10. Prepared By: Cathy Laughlin, City Planner 

 

11. Agenda Distribution:   





CITY OF ELKO
DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT

1755 COLLEGE AVENUE
ELKO, NEVADA  89801

(775)777-7210
(775)777-7219 FAX

To: Cathy Laughlin, City Planner
From: Michele Rambo, AICP, Development Manager
Re: Parcel Map 5-20, City of Elko, Wright Way/Rocky Road
Date: June 23, 2020

The City of Elko, Development Department has reviewed the proposed parcel map under existing
conditions. Applicable Master Plan Sections, Coordinating Plans, and City Code Sections are:

 City of Elko Master Plan – Land Use Component
 City of Elko Master Plan – Transportation Component
 City of Elko Redevelopment Plan
 City of Elko Wellhead Protection Plan
 City of Elko Code – Section 2-13-3 Sidewalk, Curb and Gutter Construction
 City of Elko Code – Section 3-2-4 Establishment of Zoning Districts
 City of Elko Code – Section 3-2-13 General Agriculture District
 City of Elko Code – Section 3-8 Flood Plain Management
 City of Elko Code – Section 3-3-24 Parcel Maps
 City of Elko Code – Section 3-3-28 Mergers and Resubdivision of Land

The City of Elko Development Department finds that without a Master Plan and/or Zone Change, the
parcel map is NOT in general compliance with the above referenced Master Plan Components and
Sections of City Code. The parcel map was evaluated based on the existing conditions and current zoning



Page 2 of 5

of the property.

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

1. The proposed map is the division of one parcel, 001-01A-012 into four new parcels.
2. The proposed parcels have an area approximately

a. Parcel A: 10.11 Acres
b. Parcel B: 15.37 Acres
c. Parcel C: 2.36 Acres
d. Parcel D: 7.23 Acres

3. The area is zoned (AG) General Agriculture
4. The property is currently vacant.
5. The area lies on the west side of Wright Way and north of Burgess Lane.  Rocky Road bisects the

parcel.
6. Public improvements are not in place.

MASTER PLAN:
Land Use:

 The land use is identified as Residential Medium Density.
 General Agriculture is not a corresponding Zoning designation under the Residential Medium

Density category. Per the Master Plan, General Agriculture is only an allowable zoning under the
Agricultural/Residential – Rural Density and Parks and Open Space designations.

 A Master Plan Amendment and/or Zone Change is required to bring the property into
conformance with the Master Plan.

 Objective 8: Encourage new development that does not negatively impact County-wide natural
systems, or public/federal lands such as waterways, wetlands, drainages, floodplains, etc., or pose
a danger to human health and safety.

 Until a Master Plan and/or Zone Change is completed, the project is not consistent with the
Land Use Section of the Master Plan.

Transportation:
 The proposed parcels have access to:

o N. 5th Street, a Minor Arterial, via Rocky Road, Brookwood Drive, and Rolling Hills Drive.
o Jennings Way, a Minor Arterial

 Future development of the parcels will dictate access points to individual parcels.

ELKO REDEVELOPMENT PLAN:

 The property is not located within the Redevelopment Area.

ELKO WELLHEAD PROTECTION PLAN:

 The property is located outside the 30 year capture zone.

SECTION 2-13-3 SIDEWALK, CURB AND GUTTER CONSTRUCTION

 This section of code states sidewalks, curbs and gutters shall be required on all vacant lots or
parcels of land which are hereafter … merged or divided.

 The applicant is not currently proposing street improvements, but is dedicating right-of-way as
part of the proposed Parcel Map.



Page 3 of 5

 The improvements required along the frontage(s) of all parcels must be installed at the time of
development.  Off-site improvements will also be required as needed to provide connectivity.

SECTION 3-2-4 ESTABLISHMENT OF ZONING DISTRICTS

 Section 3-2-4 ESTABLISHMENT OF ZONING DISTRICTS states that no yard or lot area can be
reduced below the minimum requirements set forth in Title 3 (zoning).

 The General Agriculture zoning district has a minimum lot size of 5 acres.
 Parcels A, B, and D are larger than the minimum 5 acres required. Lot C does not conform with

the current minimum lot size at only 2.36 acres.

Section3-2-13 GENERAL AGRICULTURE DISTRICT

 Compliance with this section of code is required unless a Zone Change occurs.
 Allowed uses for the General Agriculture District include:

o Agriculture
o Ranching
o Dairy Farms
o Oil Wells
o Soil Crops
o Guest Ranches
o Veterinary Clinic
o Churches (with CUP)
o Public Recreation Uses (with CUP)
o Schools (with CUP)
o Water Pumping and Storage (with CUP

 Any other uses are prohibited.

SECTION 3-8 FLOODPLAIN MANAGEMENT:

 The site is located outside of any flood hazard area.
 This Parcel Map and any future development of the project site will not increase the potential of

flooding above what already exists.

SECTION 3-3-24 PARCEL MAPS

Parcel Maps (A) – The proposed Parcel Map has been submitted as required.

Parcel Maps (B) – Public improvements have not been shown on the Parcel Map (See Section C below).

Parcel Maps (C) – Because this Parcel Map is dedicating right-of-way along Rocky Road and Jennings Way,
City of Elko Code requires that the map be approved by the City Council and that public improvements be
designed and constructed (including off-site improvements) upon development. The required condition
of approval has been added.

With the City of Elko being the applicant for this Parcel Map, this requirement will mean that the City is
responsible for designing and constructing all needed public improvements as these parcels are
developed.  This will continue to be the case unless and until an agreement with a user is in place.  Ideally,
this agreement should be in place prior to the map recordation.



Page 4 of 5

Parcel Maps (D) – The map does include offers for dedication of Rights of Way on both Rocky Road and
Jennings Way.

Parcel Maps (E) – As it exists, the map does not comply with all zoning requirements. As discussed above,
one of the proposed parcels does not meet the minimum lot size for the General Agriculture zoning
designation.  A condition of approval has been added that the map not be recorded until a Master Plan
Amendment and/or Zone Change has been approved and is in place.

Parcel Maps (F) – Construction plans have not been submitted and approved for site improvements.
These plans will be required for development of the individual parcels.

Parcel Maps (G) – This section does not apply because this is not a subsequent Parcel Map.

Parcel Maps (H) – Application has been made through the Planning Department to be processed as
required by this section.

Parcel Maps (I) – No exceptions apply to this site.  A Parcel Map is required.

Parcel Maps (J) – A survey was done as part of the Parcel Map preparation.

Parcel Maps (K) – The required filing fee was paid to the Planning Department.

Parcel Maps (L) – All required information has been shown on the Parcel Map.

Parcel Maps (M) – The applicant is responsible for recording the Parcel Map within the required
timeframe.  A condition of approval has been included.

Parcel Maps (N) – None of the listed prohibitions apply to the proposed Parcel Map.

SECTION 3-3-28 MERGERS AND RESUBDIVISIONS OF LAND

Mergers (A) – All lots are owned by the applicant (City of Elko).

Mergers (B) – The map shall be recorded in accordance with NRS 278.320 - .4725

Mergers (C) – All easements are clearly identified on the map.

Mergers (D) – No security is being held by the city.

RECOMMENDATION

The City of Elko Development Department recommends conditional approval of the parcel map with the
following conditions.

1. Prior to map recordation, a Master Plan Amendment is required to change the Master Plan
designation from Residential Medium Density to Public (or other appropriate designation).

2. Prior to map recordation, a Zone Change is required to change the zoning designation from
General Agriculture to Public/Quasi-Public (or other appropriate designation).

3. All required public improvements (including any off-site improvements) required as future



Page 5 of 5

development occurs must be designed and constructed per current City of Elko code
requirements in place at that time.

4. The Parcel Map shall be recorded by Elko County within two (2) years of this approval.

5. Prior to map recordation, add a note to the map stating that all public improvements are to be
installed at time of the development of each parcel.

6. Future water and sewer will need to be extended from the residential neighborhood to the east.
The water line shall be a minimum of 10 inches and the sewer line shall be a minimum of 8 inches
per City Code.











































File No.:  733833
Preliminary Report
Page 1 of  5

Stewart Title Company
810 Idaho St

Elko, NV  89801
Phone:  (775) 738-5181

Original  

PRELIMINARY REPORT

Our Order No.: 733833 Sales Price:

Proposed 
Buyer/Borrower: U.S Department of Veterans Affairs Loan Amount:

Seller:

Property Address: - TWP 34N RGE 55E MDB&M, Elko, NV  89801

Proposed Lender:

Today's Date:  April 27, 2020

In response to the above referenced application for a policy of title insurance, Stewart Title Guaranty 
Company hereby reports that it is prepared to issue, or cause to be issued, as of the date hereof, a Policy 
or Policies of Title Insurance describing the land and the estate or interest therein hereinafter set forth, 
insuring against loss which may be sustained by reason of any defect, lien or encumbrance not shown or 
referred to as an Exception below or not excluded from coverage pursuant to the printed Schedules, 
Conditions and Stipulations of said Policy forms.

The printed Exceptions and Exclusions from the coverage of said Policy or Policies are set forth in Exhibit 
A attached.  Copies of the Policy forms should be read.  They are available from the office which issued 
this report.

Please read the exceptions shown or referred to below and the exceptions and exclusions set forth in 
Exhibit A of this report carefully.  The exceptions and exclusions are meant to provide you with notice of 
matters which are not covered under the terms of the title insurance policy and should be carefully 
considered.

It is important to note that this preliminary report is not a written representation as to the condition of title 
and may not list all liens, defects, and encumbrances affecting title to the land.

This report (and any supplements or amendments thereto) is issued solely for the purpose of facilitating 
the issuance of a policy of title insurance and no liability is assumed hereby.  If it is desired that liability be 
assumed prior to the issuance of a policy of title insurance, a Binder or Commitment should be requested.

Authorized Countersignature
Annette Scates, Title Officer

Dated as of April 27, 2020 at 8:00AM

When replying, please contact:

Pamela Aguirre, Escrow Officer
(775) 738-5181  Fax:  (866) 394-6995
Email:  Paguirre@stewart.com



File No.:  733833
Preliminary Report
Page 2 of  5

File Number:  733833

PRELIMINARY REPORT

The form of Policy of Title Insurance contemplated by this report is:

  2006 ALTA Owner's Policy - Standard

  2006 ALTA Owner's Policy - Extended

  1998 ALTA Homeowners Plus Insurance Policy

  ALTA Short Form Residential Loan Policy

  2006 ALTA Loan Policy - Standard

  2006 ALTA Loan Policy - Extended

  Preliminary Report Only

  

SCHEDULE A

The estate or interest in the land hereinafter described or referred to covered by this report is:

FEE

Title to said estate or interest at the date hereof is vested in:

City of Elko, Nevada



File No.:  733833
Preliminary Report
Page 3 of  5

File Number:  733833

LEGAL DESCRIPTION

The land referred to herein is situated in the State of Nevada, County of Elko, described as follows:

TOWNSHIP 34 NORTH, RANGE 55 EAST, M.D.B.&M.

Section 8:  NE1/4NE1/4NE1/4; E1/2NW1/4NE1/4NE14; SW1/4NE1/4NE1/4; W1/2SE1/4NE1/4NE1/4; 
                  N1/2NE1/4SE1/4NE1/4; NE1/4NW1/4SE1/4NE1/4;



File No.:  733833
Preliminary Report
Page 4 of  5

File Number:  733833

SCHEDULE B

At the date hereof, exceptions to coverage in addition to the printed exceptions and exclusions contained 
in said policy or policies would be as follows:

1. Taxes or assessments which are not now payable or which are not shown as existing liens by the 
records of any taxing authority that levies taxes or assessments on real property or by the public 
records; proceedings by a public agency which may result in taxes or assessments, or notices of 
such proceedings, whether or not shown by the records of such agency or by the public records.

2. (a)  Unpatented mining claims, (b) reservations or exceptions in patents or in Acts authorizing the 
issuance thereof; (c) water rights, claims or title to water; whether or not the matters excepted 
under (a), (b) or (c) are shown by the public records, (d) Indian tribal codes or regulations, Indian 
Treaty or Aboriginal Rights, including easements or equitable servitudes.

3. Minerals of whatsoever kind, subsurface and surface substances, including but not limited to coal, 
lignite, oil, gas, uranium, clay, rock, sand and gravel in, on, under and that may be produced from 
the Land, together with all rights, privileges, and immunities relating thereto, whether or not 
appearing in the Public Records or listed in Schedule B. The Company makes no representation 
as to the present ownership of any such interests.  There may be leases, grants, exceptions or 
reservations of interests that are not listed.

4. Taxes which may become due and payable upon recordation of a deed to a taxable entity.

5. The Lien of supplemental taxes, if any, assessed  pursuant to the provisions of Chapter 361.260 
of the NEVADA REVISED STATUTES.

6. Mineral rights, reservations, easements and exclusions in the patent from the United States of
America recorded November 8, 2005, as Document No. 543305,
Official Records of Elko County, Nevada.

END OF EXCEPTIONS



File No.:  733833
Preliminary Report
Page 5 of  5

File Number:  733833

REQUIREMENTS AND NOTES

1. Show that restrictions or restrictive covenants have not been violated.

2. Payment to or for the account of the grantors or mortgagors of the full consideration for the estate 
or interest, mortgage or lien to be issued.

3. Furnish proof of payment of all bills for labor and material furnished or to be furnished in 
connection with improvements erected or to be erected.

4. Pay the premiums, fees and charges for the policy.

5. Pay all taxes, charges, and assessments affecting the land that are due and payable.

6. Documents satisfactory to us creating the interest in the land and the mortgage to be insured 
must be signed delivered and recorded.

7. Tell us in writing the name of any one not referred to in this Prelim who will get an interest in the 
land or who will make a loan on the land. We may then make additional requirements or 
exceptions.

8. Record instrument(s) conveying or encumbering the estate or interest to be insured, briefly 
described:

Documents necessary to close the within transaction

9. After the review of all the required documents, the Company reserves the right to add additional 
items and/or make additional requirements prior to the issuances of any policy of title insurance.

10. N/A

END OF REQUIREMENTS AND NOTES



SIERRA PACIFIC

POWER COMPANY

APN 006-09J-032

ROCKY ROAD

REESE

425 ROCKY RD

APN 006-09J-001

MENDIVE

3515 WRIGHT WAY

APN 006-09J-002

ARANGUENA

696 BURGESS LN

APN 006-09J-004

AIAZZI

3477 WRIGHT WAY

APN 006-09J-003

USA (BLM)

APN 006-090-900

USA (BLM)

APN 006-090-900

USA (BLM)

APN 006-090-900

J

E

N

N

I
N

G

S

 
W

A

Y

N

 

5

T

H

 

S

T

R

E

E

T

BROOKWOOD DRIVE

ROLLING HILLS DR

E
N

F
I
E

L
D

 
A

V
E

HOWARD

3427 JENNINGS WAY

APN 006-09J-009

R

O

C

K

Y

 

R

O

A

D

PROPOSED

PARCEL A

[10.11± ACRES]

PROPOSED

PARCEL D

[7.23± ACRES]

PROPOSED

JENNINGS WAY

[0.52± ACRES]

PROPOSED

PARCEL B

[15.37± ACRES]

USA (BLM) APN 001-01B-001SECTION FIVE ASSOCIATES LLC APN 001-01D-001

PROPOSED

PARCEL C

[2.36± ACRES]

PROPOSED

ROCKY ROAD

[2.12± ACRES]

WRIGHT WAY

[0.38± ACRES]

WRIGHT WAY

PROPOSED

PROPOSED

JOB #:

SCALE:

DRAWN BY:

DESIGNED BY:

CHECKED BY:

SHEET

OF

5405 MAE ANNE AVENUE, RENO, NV. 89523  PHONE: (775) 747-8550 FAX: (775) 747-8559

1

1

1"=200'

82539

N:\DWGS\J82539_ElkoVACemetery\ElkoVACemeteryPM_Display20200609.DWG ~ 10:01 AM * 09-JUN-2020

ELKO APN 001-01A-012 (38.09 ACRES)

PROPOSED PARCEL MAP CONFIGURATION

6/9/2020 DISPLAY FOR REVIEW

RGC

RGC

rcookCopyright SUMMIT ENG 2020

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
9

AutoCAD SHX Text
(EXISTING 70' R/W)

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED 70'

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIGHT-OF-WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING 50' R/W

AutoCAD SHX Text
PER N34115

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED 70'

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIGHT-OF-WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING 120' R/W

AutoCAD SHX Text
PER N75763 FOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
JENNINGS WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
70' PUBLIC ACCESS

AutoCAD SHX Text
& UTILITY EASEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
PER DOC. ________

AutoCAD SHX Text
33'

AutoCAD SHX Text
50'

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING R/W &

AutoCAD SHX Text
PUE PER PATENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
1223046

AutoCAD SHX Text
50'

AutoCAD SHX Text
33'

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING R/W &

AutoCAD SHX Text
PUE PER PATENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
1223045

AutoCAD SHX Text
(R/W DOCUMENTATION 

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOT FOUND)

AutoCAD SHX Text
(TO BE RETAINED BY CITY)

AutoCAD SHX Text
(TO BE RETAINED BY CITY)

AutoCAD SHX Text
(TO BE DEDICATED FOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
PUBLIC ROADWAYS & PUE)

AutoCAD SHX Text
(LAND ACQUISITION PARCEL)

AutoCAD SHX Text
35'

AutoCAD SHX Text
35'

AutoCAD SHX Text
T34N

AutoCAD SHX Text
R55E

AutoCAD SHX Text
60'

AutoCAD SHX Text
60'

AutoCAD SHX Text
60'

AutoCAD SHX Text
(TO BE RETAINED BY CITY)

AutoCAD SHX Text
(TO BE DEDICATED FOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
PUBLIC ROADWAYS & PUE)

AutoCAD SHX Text
(TO BE DEDICATED FOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
PUBLIC ROADWAYS & PUE)

AutoCAD SHX Text
50'

AutoCAD SHX Text
(TO BE DEDICATED FOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
PUBLIC ROADWAYS & PUE)

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING 30' R/W &

AutoCAD SHX Text
PUE PER PATENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
27-84-0030

AutoCAD SHX Text
50'

AutoCAD SHX Text
1"=200'

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
200

AutoCAD SHX Text
400

AutoCAD SHX Text
600









Agenda Item # I.A.3. 

Created on 06/11/20  Planning Commission Action Sheet 

Elko City Planning Commission 
Agenda Action Sheet 

 

1. Title: Review, consideration, and possible action to an amendment to the City of Elko 

Master Plan, specifically amending: 1) the Proposed Future Land Use Plan Atlas Map 

8 on six parcels of land located on S. 5th Street generally between Carlin Court and S. 

9th Street; 2) adding RO (Residential Office) as a corresponding zoning under the 

Downtown Mixed-Use land use designation, and 3) the Proposed Future Land Use 

Plan Atlas Map 8 on one parcel located at the western terminus of Rocky Road, and 

matters related thereto. FOR POSSIBLE ACTION 

 

2. Meeting Date: July 7, 2020 

 

3. Agenda Category: MISCELLANEOUS ITEMS, PETITIONS, AND COMMUNICATIONS 

 

4. Time Required: 10 Minutes 

 

5. Background Information: Recent development applications have revealed some 

inconsistencies between existing Zoning districts and Master Plan designations.  The 

proposed amendment cleans up these inconsistencies. 

 

NRS Section 278.210(5) allows Master Plans to be amended up to four times a year.  

This amendment is the second in 2020. 
 

6. Business Impact Statement: Not Required 

 

7. Supplemental Agenda Information: Staff Report 

 

8. Recommended Motion: Move to initiate an amendment to the City of Elko Master Plan 

and direct staff to bring the item back as a resolution and public hearing. 
 

9. Prepared By: Michele Rambo, AICP, Development Manager 

 

10. Agenda Distribution: N/A 





Page 1 of 12

CITY OF ELKO STAFF REPORT

REPORT DATE: June 22, 2020
PLANNING COMMISSION DATE: July 7, 2020
AGENDA ITEM NUMBER:
APPLICATION NUMBER: Master Plan Amendment 2-20

An initiation of an amendment to the City of Elko Master Plan, specifically amending: 1) the Proposed
Future Land Use Plan Atlas Map 8 on six parcels of land located on S. 5th Street generally between
Carlin Court and S. 9th Street; 2) the Land Use Section to add RO (Residential Office) as a corresponding
zoning under the Downtown Mixed-Use land use designation; and 3) the Proposed Future Land Use
Plan Atlas Map 8 on one parcel located at the western terminus of Rocky Road.

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:

INITIATE the proposed Master Plan Amendment and direct staff to bring the item back as a resolution
and public hearing.

PROPOSED CHANGE #1

BACKGROUND

M&M Tile, located at 815 S. 5th Street, applied for a Parcel Map to move the lot line between two
parcels.  During the review process, it was discovered that the current zoning of the property, General
Commercial, is not a corresponding zoning for the existing Master Plan designation of Residential –
Medium Density.

A Master Plan Amendment was determined to be needed because the Master Plan requires that the
zoning of individual parcels conform with the Master Plan land use designation.  As a general practice
throughout Nevada, if these designations do not match, the project cannot be approved or a condition
of approval must be placed on the project that a Master Plan Amendment occur. In this instance, a
condition of approval was added to the Parcel Map.

Once Staff began looking more closely at this area of town, it was discovered that many parcels
surrounding S. 5th Street/Lamoille Highway have conflicting zoning and Master Plan designations.  The
proposed changes below are just to those parcels within the same block as M&M Tile.  Further Master
Plan Amendments for other parcels in the area may be forthcoming.

EXISTING CONDITIONS

As seen on the map below, the parcels in questions are zoned General Commercial and Residential.
Surrounding properties to the west and south are also zoned General Commercial, while the parcels to

City of Elko
1751 College Avenue

Elko, NV  89801
(775) 777-7160

FAX (775) 777-7119



Master Plan Amendment 2-20

Page 2 of 12

the north are zoned Residential – Special Area, and the parcels to the east are zoned Residential.

There are currently a mix of uses in the neighborhood along S. 5th Street/Lamoille Highway in this area.
The six parcels in question include a City of Elko fire station, two tile companies, and vacant land.
Mobile home parks exist in most of the surrounding area.

For the most part, the existing zoning districts make sense for this neighborhood and are not proposed
to change, with the exception of the parcel containing the fire station. A future Zone Change will need
to be processed by Staff at a later time.

The map below shows the existing Master Plan Designations for the same neighborhood.  All of the
properties surrounding the subject parcels are classified as Residential – Medium Density with the
exception of those across S. 5th Street/Lamoille Highway, which are designated as Mixed-Use
Neighborhood. In addition, there is an area designated as General Commercial approximately 500 feet
east of 9th Street along Lamoille Highway.



Master Plan Amendment 2-20

Page 3 of 12

PROPOSED CHANGES

In order to clean up the multiple discrepancies between the Master Plan designations and Zoning
districts of these six parcels, multiple changes are needed.  These are outlined below:

APN Use Current Zoning Current
Master Plan

Proposed
Master Plan

001-472-014 Fire Station General
Commercial

Residential-
Medium Density

Public

001-472-013 Commercial General
Commercial

Residential-
Medium Density

General
Commercial

001-472-015 Vacant General
Commercial

Residential-
Medium Density

General
Commercial

001-472-012 Commercial General
Commercial

Residential-
Medium Density

General
Commercial

001-473-001 Vacant General
Commercial

Mixed-Use
Neighborhood

General
Commercial

001-740-010 Vacant Residential Mixed-Use
Neighborhood

Residential-
Medium Density



Master Plan Amendment 2-20

Page 4 of 12

The map below shows the proposed changes to the Master Plan designation of each parcel.

These changes will bring these parcels into compliance between their existing zoning districts and the
proposed land use designations (with the exception of the fire station discussed above).

JUSTIFICATION

The City of Elko has not adopted findings to be met by Master Plan Amendments.  However, other
jurisdictions throughout Nevada use some variation of the following findings when reviewing Master
Plan Amendments.  These are useful when considering the proposed changes.

1. The amendment/project will provide for orderly physical growth of the City, enhance the urban
core, and foster safe, convenient, and walkable neighborhoods and shopping districts.

Creating consistency between zoning and Master Plan designations aides in the growth of the
City by keeping the intended use of these parcels clear for future development.  Inconsistencies
create confusion and delay projects, which can ultimately keep somebody from building on a
parcel.



Master Plan Amendment 2-20

Page 5 of 12

2. The amendment/project conforms to the adopted population plan and ensures an adequate
supply of housing, including affordable housing.

The proposed change does not have a significant impact on housing or population because most
of the parcels under consideration for this change are currently being used for commercial uses.
One vacant parcel is proposed to become new Medium-Density Residential land, which off-sets
the loss of the same designation on 4 of the smaller parcels.

3. There has been a change in the area or conditions on which the current designation was based
which warrants the amendment.

No change has occurred.  The amendment is warranted simply as a means to create consistency
between the zoning and land use categories.

4. The density and intensity of the proposed Master Plan Amendment is sensitive to the existing
land uses and is compatible with the existing adjacent land use designations.

The uses and density permitted under the new Master Plan designations does not change
because the Master Plan is being changed to match the existing uses on the parcels.

5. There are, or are planned to be, adequate transportation, recreation, utility, and other facilities
to accommodate the uses and density permitted by the proposed Master Plan designation.

The proposed change to the Master Plan designations does not increase the need for facilities
such as transportation, recreation, and utilities.  With the exception of some street
improvements which would be installed with the development of the vacant parcels, all facilities
are already in place to serve this area.

6. The proposed change is in substantial conformance with the goals and policies of the Master
Plan and other adopted plans and policies.

The proposed changes to each property’s Master Plan designation is in substantial conformance
with the following objective:

 Objective 6: Encourage multiple scales of commercial development to serve the
needs of the region, the community, and individual neighborhoods.

In addition, the proposed amendment conforms with all other adopted plans and policies within
the City of Elko.

PROPOSED CHANGE #2

BACKGROUND

Throughout the years, the City of Elko has approved several Zone Changes for individual lots along the
south side of Court Street from R (Residential) to RO (Residential Office).  The current Master Plan
designation of these properties is Downtown Mixed-Use, which does not support the Residential Office



Master Plan Amendment 2-20

Page 6 of 12

Zoning.  Staff feels that Residential Office is a highly compatible use based on the character of the
existing neighborhood, but by allowing these zoning changes, the City is technically creating an
inconsistency between the Zoning and the Master Plan.

Staff has discussed the option of transforming Court Street into a district similar to what has previously
been done along 5th Street.  However, the Master Plan designation found along the north side of Court
Street (Residential – Medium Density) already allows for the use of Residential Office zoning.  Therefore,
it would be a much easier process (while achieving the same result as a district) to change the Master
Plan to allow for Residential Office zoning in the Downtown Mixed-Use land use designation.

EXISTING CONDITIONS

As seen in the description below, page 18 of the Land Use section of the Master Plan currently lists only
General Commercial as a corresponding zoning district under the Downtown Mixed-Use designation.

Based on this, the highlighted properties below are not in conformance with the Master Plan.



Master Plan Amendment 2-20

Page 7 of 12

PROPOSED CHANGES

The proposed change is simply to include Residential Office as a corresponding zoning district under the
Downtown Mixed-Use designation, as shown below.

This change will bring the properties in question into conformance with the Master Plan and allow for
future Zone Changes to Residential Office.

JUSTIFICATION

The City of Elko has not adopted findings to be met by Master Plan Amendments.  However, other
jurisdictions throughout Nevada use some variation of the following findings when reviewing Master
Plan Amendments.  These are useful when considering the proposed changes.

1. The amendment/project will provide for orderly physical growth of the City, enhance the urban
core, and foster safe, convenient, and walkable neighborhoods and shopping districts.

The proposed amendment to include Residential Office as a corresponding zoning district under
Downtown Mixed-Use directly enhances the urban core and provides for convenient mixed-use
districts.  The existing office uses already in place and the encouragement of future residential
office uses will enhance the existing neighborhood and bring a more diverse set of uses.  These
office uses will further increase sales tax to the City.

2. The amendment/project conforms to the adopted population plan and ensures an adequate
supply of housing, including affordable housing.

The proposed change does not remove any current housing stock, but does allow single-family
residences to be converted to office uses in the future which are currently located within the
Downtown Mixed-Use designation.  There are only a handful of properties which would fall into
this category so the impact to the overall housing supply in the City of Elko would be negligible.



Master Plan Amendment 2-20

Page 8 of 12

3. There has been a change in the area or conditions on which the current designation was based
which warrants the amendment.

Allowing the Residential Office zoning district within the Downtown Mixed-Use land use
category not only cleans up inconsistencies on the parcels discussed above, but also allows for a
wider array of uses.  The Downtown Mixed-Use designation currently only allows for one zoning
district (General Commercial).  However, a true mixed-use area should allow for a variety of
zoning districts to create the most successful neighborhood possible.  With residential offices
and mixed-use gaining popularity throughout the country, this proposed change would open up
several additional properties within the City for this type of use.

4. The density and intensity of the proposed Master Plan Amendment is sensitive to the existing
land uses and is compatible with the existing adjacent land use designations.

Allowing the Residential Office zoning district within the Downtown Mixed-Use designation is
directly compatible with, and sensitive to, the existing land uses and designations.  The parcels
that are currently incompatible with the Master Plan will become compatible.  There are several
existing parcels zoned for Residential Office across Court Street where Residential Office is
already a compatible zoning district under the Residential Medium Density designation found
there.

5. There are, or are planned to be, adequate transportation, recreation, utility, and other facilities
to accommodate the uses and density permitted by the proposed Master Plan designation.

The proposed change to the Master Plan does not increase the need for facilities such as
transportation, recreation, and utilities.  These facilities are already in place throughout this area
of the City.  In addition, the density of any future parcels zoned Residential Office will not
increase above what is already in place, eliminating the need for any additional facilities in the
future.

6. The proposed change is in substantial conformance with the goals and policies of the Master
Plan and other adopted plans and policies.

Allowing Residential Office as a corresponding zoning district under the Downtown Mixed-Use
district is in substantial conformance with the following objectives:

 Objective 4: Consider a mixed-use pattern of development for the downtown area,
and for major centers and corridors, to ensure the area’s adaptability, longevity, and
overall sustainability.

 Objective 6:  Encourage multiple scales of commercial development to serve the
needs of the region, the community, and individual neighborhoods.

In addition, the proposed amendment conforms with all other adopted plans and policies within
the City of Elko.



Master Plan Amendment 2-20

Page 9 of 12

PROPOSED CHANGE #3

BACKGROUND

The United States Department of Veterans Affairs has been searching for a site in or around Elko to
serve as a new veteran’s cemetery.  After considering several parcels, the group decided that the parcel
at the western terminus of Rocky Road (APN 001-01A-012) would work best for their needs.

To begin the process, the City of Elko created a Parcel Map to divide the 38.086-acre parcel into four
parcels of various sizes.  During review of this Parcel Map, Staff discovered that one of those lots does
not conform with the minimum required lot size for the current zoning designation.  The Zoning Code
requires that all newly created lots comply with the development standards for its current zoning. If a
Parcel Map contains a non-compliant parcel, the Parcel Map cannot be approved.

Therefore, Staff determined that a Master Plan Amendment and Zone Change are required prior to the
approval of the proposed Parcel Map.

EXISTING CONDITIONS

As seen on the map below, the parcel in question is zoned General Agriculture.  Surrounding properties
to the north are also zoned General Agriculture, while the properties to the east are zoned Single-Family
and Multiple-Family Residential.  The areas to the west and south of the site are within Elko County.
Further to the south, back within City Limits, consists of Public/Quasi-Public and Single-Family
Residential districts.



Master Plan Amendment 2-20

Page 10 of 12

The map below shows the existing Master Plan Designations for the same neighborhood.  All of the
properties surrounding the subject parcel are classified as Residential – Medium Density. When the
Master Plan was approved, a large portion of this area was envisioned as being developed into single-
family residences.

PROPOSED CHANGES

The map below shows the proposed changes to the Master Plan designation of the subject parcel. The
Public designation was chosen based on the anticipated uses of the four proposed sites.  These uses
include cemetery and a support facility for the Elko County School District. A corresponding Zone
Change to Public/Quasi-Public is also being processed. If prior to development, the anticipated uses
change, further amendments may be needed.



Master Plan Amendment 2-20

Page 11 of 12

JUSTIFICATION

The City of Elko has not adopted findings to be met by Master Plan Amendments.  However, other
jurisdictions throughout Nevada use some variation of the following findings when reviewing Master
Plan Amendments.  These are useful when considering the proposed changes.

1. The amendment/project will provide for orderly physical growth of the City, enhance the urban
core, and foster safe, convenient, and walkable neighborhoods and shopping districts.

As the City of Elko grows, large parcels such as this are becoming harder to find.  Some uses
require larger parcels such as this one, narrowing down the options of location and sometimes
conflicting with the original plan for an area.  When this happens, it is important to consider
whether or not the proposed change is in the best interest of the City and if an alternative plan
for orderly physical growth of the City can be determined.

The proposed amendment, while technically blocking the orderly physical growth of the City,
allows for the development of needed Public uses that other parcels in town are not large
enough for.  The possible future annexation of the surrounding Elko County parcels will mitigate
this conflict in the long run, but may not happen for many years.

2. The amendment/project conforms to the adopted population plan and ensures an adequate
supply of housing, including affordable housing.

The change from Residential – Medium Density to Public reduces the amount of land available
for housing in an area that has been envisioned as residential for many years.  The proposed



Master Plan Amendment 2-20

Page 12 of 12

change would ultimately reduce the amount of residential development in the City and reduce
the future property tax potential.  However, as mentioned above, if the surrounding Elko County
properties are ever annexed into the City of Elko, the loss of this parcel will be mitigated.

3. There has been a change in the area or conditions on which the current designation was based
which warrants the amendment.

There have been no changes in the area itself or overall conditions that warrant this amendment
other than the fact that the US Department of Veteran’s Affairs has requested to purchase the
property for a cemetery.  No other parcels they considered met the criteria.

4. The density and intensity of the proposed Master Plan Amendment is sensitive to the existing
land uses and is compatible with the existing adjacent land use designations.

Overall, the proposed amendment is compatible with existing adjacent land use designations.
Cemeteries are allowed in and adjacent to residentially designated parcels, such as currently
exists in another portion of town.

5. There are, or are planned to be, adequate transportation, recreation, utility, and other facilities
to accommodate the uses and density permitted by the proposed Master Plan designation.

As the proposed parcels develop, all public improvements will be required.

6. The proposed change is in substantial conformance with the goals and policies of the Master
Plan and other adopted plans and policies.

The proposed change to the property’s Master Plan designation is in substantial conformance
with the following objective:

 Objective 4: Consider a mixed-use pattern of development for the downtown area,
major centers, and corridors to ensure the area’s adaptability, longevity, and overall
sustainability.

In addition, the proposed amendment conforms with all other adopted plans and policies within
the City of Elko.



Agenda Item # I.A.4. 

Created on 09/27/2016  Planning Commission Action Sheet 

Elko City Planning Commission 
Agenda Action Sheet 

 

1. Title: Review, consideration, and possible action to initiate an amendment to the 

City of Elko district boundaries, specifically APN 001-472-014, removing the C-

General Commercial Zoning District and replacing with the PQP- Public, Quasi-

Public District, and matters related thereto. FOR POSSIBLE ACTION 

 

2. Meeting Date: July 7, 2020 

 

3. Agenda Category: MISCELLANEOUS ITEMS, PETITIONS, AND COMMUNICATIONS 

 

4. Time Required: 10 Minutes 

 

5. Background Information: Elko City Code Section 3-2-21 allows the Planning 

Commission to initiate on its own motion a change to the district boundaries. The 

City of Elko owns the parcel and the building has been occupied for many years as a 

fire station. This amendment, initiated by the Planning Commission, if approved, 

will bring back the zone amendment as a public hearing to rezone the parcel from 

C-General Commercial to PQP- Public Quasi-Public.  
 

6. Business Impact Statement: Not Required 

 

7. Supplemental Agenda Information: 

 

8. Recommended Motion: Move to initiate an amendment to the City of Elko district 

boundary and direct staff to bring it back as a public hearing. 

 

9. Prepared By: Cathy Laughlin, City Planner 

 

10. Agenda Distribution:  





Page 1 of 2

CITY OF ELKO STAFF REPORT

MEMO DATE: June 17, 2020
PLANNING COMMISSION DATE: July 7, 2020
APPLICATION NUMBER: REZONE 1-20
APPLICANT: City of Elko
PROJECT DESCRIPTION:

A rezone from (C) General Commercial to (PQP) Public, Quasi-Public to be initiated by
the City of Elko Planning Commission.

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:

RECOMMEND APPROVAL to initiate an amendment to the City of Elko District Boundary.

City of Elko
1751 College Avenue

Elko, NV  89801
(775) 777-7160

FAX (775) 777-7119



REZONE 1-20
City of Elko

Page 2 of 2

BACKGROUND:

1. Planning Commission is considering an amendment to the Master Plan to change the land
use atlas for this parcel to be Public. This zone amendment would be consistent with the
proposed Master Plan amendment.

2. The property was built in approximately 1985 and has been occupied as a Fire Station

NEIGHBORHOOD CHARACTERISTICS:
 The property is surrounded by:

o Northeast: Developed, Residential
o Northwest: Developed, Residential Special Overlay
o Southeast: Undeveloped, Commercial
o Southwest: Developed, Commercial



Agenda Item # I.A.5.  

Created on 09/27/2016  Planning Commission Action Sheet 

Elko City Planning Commission 
Agenda Action Sheet 

 

1. Title: Review, consideration, and possible action to initiate an amendment to the 

City of Elko district boundaries, specifically APN 001-01A-012, removing the AG-

General Agriculture Zoning District and replacing with the PQP- Public, Quasi-

Public District, and matters related thereto. FOR POSSIBLE ACTION 

 

2. Meeting Date: July 7, 2020 

 

3. Agenda Category: MISCELLANEOUS ITEMS, PETITIONS, AND COMMUNICATIONS 

 

4. Time Required: 10 Minutes 

 

5. Background Information: Elko City Code Section 3-2-21 allows the Planning 

Commission to initiate on its own motion a change to the district boundaries. The 

City of Elko owns the parcel and the VA is proposing to purchase a portion of the 

property for a future VA Cemetery. This amendment, initiated by the Planning 

Commission, if approved, will bring back the zone amendment as a public hearing 

to rezone the parcel from AG-General Agriculture to PQP- Public Quasi-Public.  
 

6. Business Impact Statement: Not Required 

 

7. Supplemental Agenda Information: 

 

8. Recommended Motion: Move to initiate an amendment to the City of Elko district 

boundary and direct staff to bring it back as a public hearing. 

 

9. Prepared By: Cathy Laughlin, City Planner 

 

10. Agenda Distribution:  





Page 1 of 2

CITY OF ELKO STAFF REPORT

MEMO DATE: June 22, 2020
PLANNING COMMISSION DATE: July 7, 2020
APPLICATION NUMBER: REZONE 2-20
APPLICANT: City of Elko
PROJECT DESCRIPTION:

A rezone from (AG) General Agriculture to (PQP) Public, Quasi-Public to be initiated by
the City of Elko Planning Commission.

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:

RECOMMEND APPROVAL to initiate an amendment to the City of Elko District Boundary.

City of Elko
1751 College Avenue

Elko, NV  89801
(775) 777-7160

FAX (775) 777-7119



REZONE 2-20
City of Elko

Page 2 of 2

BACKGROUND:

1. City Council took action at their January 14, 2020 meeting approving an access
agreement between the City of Elko and United States of America, by and through the
U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs for a portion of this property.

2. The U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs is proposing to purchase the internal 15 acres of
this parcel for a future VA Cemetery.

3. A Parcel Map application has been submitted to split the parcel into 4 parcels. With the
current zoning, one of the parcels would not meet the minimum acreage of 5 acres.
Therefore, the parcel map cannot be approved with the current zoning.

NEIGHBORHOOD CHARACTERISTICS:
 The property is surrounded by:

o North: Undeveloped, Agriculture
o West: Elko County partially developed, Residential
o South: Elko County partially developed, Residential
o East: Developed, Residential


















































	07-07-20 Agenda.pdf (p.1-4)
	05-05-2020 DRAFT Minutes.pdf (p.5-12)
	06-02-2020 DRAFT Minutes.pdf (p.13-21)
	Item I.A.1. - New Business - Misc - FM 3-20 Aspen Heights.pdf (p.22-45)
	Item I.A.2. - New Business - Misc - PM 5-20 City of Elko.pdf (p.46-81)
	Item I.A.3. - New Business - Misc - Initiate Master Plan amendment 2-20.pdf (p.82-95)
	Item I.A.4. - New Business - Misc - Initiate Amendment in District Boundary for S. Side Fire Station parcel.pdf (p.96-99)
	Item I.A.5. - New Business - Misc - Initiate Amendment in District Boundary for future VA Cemetery.pdf (p.100-103)
	Zoning Bulletin - 05-25-20.pdf (p.104-111)
	Zoning Bulletin - 06-10-20.pdf (p.112-119)
	Zoning Bulletin - 06-25-20.pdf (p.120-127)

